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Over the years a number of residents of Cades Cove went on to higher education. Many who did not have the opportunity for advanced schooling found success and happiness in a number of different fields. To name just a few:

G.D. Lequire - became a Medical Doctor

Hugh R. Oliver - became a lawyer and retired a high ranking officer from the U. S. Air Force

John W. Oliver – earned various credentials in business and education and returned to Cades Cove to try to make it a better place

William Wayne Oliver - became a lawyer and noted judge in Blount County and the State of Tennessee

George D. Roberts – became a lawyer and was judge of the Blount County Court for many years

Randolph Shields - earned his Ph.D. and retired as professor and chairman of the Biology Dept. at Maryville College

Teaching school has long been regarded as a noble profession. It was so regarded in Cades Cove in the nineteenth century. In general, the people in Cades Cove desired to have their children educated. They made special efforts to do so. Likewise, those men (and later, women) who endeavored to educate the children of the Cove also made special efforts.
By modern standards, class sizes were large, pay was low, books and materials were almost non-existent and working conditions were difficult. As an example, in 1891, a man by the name of John Law was the teacher at the Upper School. In a single room school, he had 80 students in at least five grades. The pay he received was $22.40 per month. Out of this amount, he paid $4.00 a month for room and board. In addition to his teaching duties, he had to tend the fire and other related chores throughout the day. Since the school term was only four and a half months, he had to seek additional employment during the months when school was out. On the positive side, the parents wanted their children to learn and, in general, the children wanted to learn.
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The following pages contain information about the structures in Cades Cove and other features that will be of interest to the visitor to this part of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park. The material has been gleaned from a number of published sources. These are listed in the Bibliography at the end of these pages. Where appropriate references have been indicated in the form of end notes that are found just before the reference list.

The purpose of this work is to provide the Volunteer in the Park -especially those who volunteer in Cades Cove - with a concise summarization of the sources available. It is not the intent of this to replace those sources nor is it claimed that this is a comprehensive coverage of Cades Cove. Each volunteer should continue his/her own research begun here. It is important to recognize that there are several published versions of the history of Cades Cove and that these publications do not all agree on the details. In these pages, the attempt has been made to present the information in a factual and credible manner. It is expected that there may be some variation in dates, places, even in the details of a particular event.

Most of the sources cited are presently in either the Cades Cove Resource Education Library or the Great Smoky Mountains National Park Library at Sugarlands. If available, in either of those locations, they are generally available for loan to V.I.P. ‘s. They may also be found in the various public libraries in the communities and counties adjacent to the Park. Many of them are also found in the Visitor Centers where they may be purchased.

In dealing with certain controversial or differing facts, certain standards had to be set up for the sake of consistency. These are explained as it seemed necessary in the Endnotes.

Stan Totten

April 2001

Revised 2006
John Oliver Cabin 

	Location on Loop Road: 1.0 miles from entrance
John Oliver and Family
John Oliver is often referred to as the "father of Cades Cove". According to tradition, John, his wife Lurena (her name is spelled differently in various sources)', and their small daughter, Mary (Polly), crossed Rich Mountain to arrive in Cades Cove in the fall of 1818. After surviving a difficult winter, the Oliver's became the first white settlers to successfully establish themselves in the Cove. John and Lurena eventually owned and farmed 120 acres of land in the east end of Cades Cove and raised seven children to adulthood. The names and dates of birth are as follows:

John Oliver (1793 - 1864)

Lurany Frazier Oliver (1795 - 1888)

Mary (Polly) Oliver Shields (1817 - 1892)

Martha Oliver Shields (1819 - 1864)

Elizabeth Oliver Anthony (1822 - 1912)

George Oliver (1822 - 1826) died as a child

Lazarus Oliver (1827 - 1902)

Elijah Oliver (1829 - 1905)

Rutha Oliver Gregory (1833 - 1891)

Son (1830/35) died as an infant

William Oliver (1837 - 1901)

Why Did They Come Here?
John Oliver was born in North Carolina and at some time before 1814 he moved to Carter County, Tennessee. Supposedly illiterate and very poor, he was employed by Samuel Tipton as a collier, making charcoal. In 1814 he joined the militia under General Andrew Jackson for a six month enlistment. He participated in the Battle of Horseshoe Bend and during this time, developed a friendship with another soldier named Joshua Jobe. Returning to Carter County from the war, John married Lurena Frazier and went back to work as a collier.

He was approached by William Tipton (Samuel's brother) and Joshua Jobe who had become land speculators, with the idea that he move to Cades Cove. He was promised supplies to begin a farm and money to purchase land. In return for this the Olivers were to establish a homesite in Cades Cove and send back positive reports about the wonderful life the Cove offered. John was enthusiastic and hopeful that this opportunity would help him to improve his financial and social status. As a result of his war experience, John had no fear of Indians, he idolized Jackson's courage, and he wanted to work his own land. Although Cades Cove was still Indian land, he set off with enthusiasm.

Lurena Oliver was less enthusiastic, but she was known to be a strong woman. She was from a poor background, orphaned and "bound" to a foster family at a young age. Undoubtedly, she also wanted to improve the family's situation. Joshua Jobe traveled with the Olivers (John, Lurena and daughter Polly), but he returned to Carter County leaving the Olivers alone in an abandoned Cherokee hunting cabin. Later, John built his own cabin just uphill from the present cabin. They barely made it through the winter of 18182.  During the winter their food supply was dangerously low but the Cherokees provided them dried pumpkin. Without this aid from the Cherokee people in the Cove, Lurena thought the family would have starved to death. As spring came John began to clear land for farming.

Joshua Jobe came back in the spring of 1819 with a small herd of cattle. He was set upon by Lurena for leaving them alone to starve. Jobe gave her two milk cows as a peace offering and returned to Carter County to gather more settlers. He returned, in 1821, along with a number of friends and relatives to finally settle in Cades Cove.

About The Cabin
The cabin standing today is part of the original structure built by John Oliver in 1828. The first crude cabin, built soon after their arrival, stood behind the present structure. The site of their first cabin can be located by looking for a pile of rocks that was the original chimney just north of the present building. The structure was initially built of southern yellow pine. Many of the logs were replaced over the years by family members and by Park Service restoration crews. Original logs can be seen in the east and west walls. The north wall, the porches and part of the south wall, sills, floor joists, roof and chimney have all been replaced since the Great Smoky Mountains National Park was created.

At some point, probably about 1912, a kitchen was added to the north side of the original building. It was of frame construction. Apparently also at least one of the porches was enclosed to add more space. After the Park Service determined to establish Cades Cove as an example of a 19th century agricultural community, the John Oliver cabin was restored. This restoration included the removal of the kitchen structure and the enclosed porch. According to family reports, there was a well 64 feet deep located in front of the cabin, and there were several outbuildings around the house.3 A photograph of the house taken in 1934 and another taken in the 1920's shows a rather large vegetable garden on the south (chimney) side of the house. It also shows the east porch at least partially enclosed. Upon close examination of these photos a structure to the northwest of the house can be seen. It appears that this building would have been about where the present Rich Mountain Loop Trail makes a sharp turn to follow Martha Branch up the mountain.4
Life in the Cabin



When one looks at the John Oliver cabin it is obvious that living here would have been pretty crowded. The structure without the porches measures approximately 20 feet by 20 feet. When they moved into this cabin, John and Lurena already had four children and the fifth was expected. Over the next several years, there were more children born and ultimately the Olivers had seven children living with them in this small building. Tradition has it that the male members of the family slept upstairs in the loft while the female members slept on the ground level. Even with that sort of separation, it must have been difficult.

Food was prepared over the fire in the fireplace which was also the source of heat in the winter. It is not known exactly what sort of furnishings they had, but clearly the furniture must have been limited to the very basics. A rough table and perhaps a couple of benches and a bed probably were the extent of the contents. Bedtime was no doubt just a little after sundown with everyone arising at dawn. Most of the day was spent doing the various chores that were required to eke out a living on the land. These chores required that the family members be outside so the cabin was used primarily as a place to sleep and eat. All members of the family from the age of three or four years participated in these chores. The smaller children, of course, were not expected to perform heavy labor tasks, but it was not uncommon for them to have jobs such as feeding the chickens, gathering eggs and even working the vegetable garden. As they grew older, all children began to fulfill more complex and difficult chores such as bringing in wood for the fire, chopping and splitting wood, mending fences, plowing and other adult tasks.

The woman of the house usually did not do field work, but she did take care of the vegetable garden. She also prepared the meals, spun cotton, flax, and wool to make thread which she then wove into cloth to be used for making clothing for the family. She had help from the girls of the family as they got older, but the younger girls were expected to do their share of the outside duties. In general, the women of the Cove did not do the heavier tasks involved with the workings of the farm.

The John Oliver Cabin displays a notable feature that many early cabins in Cades Cove had. This feature was the "tater hole". This was an opening in the floor, usually in front of the fireplace that led to a storage space for potatoes and other root vegetables under the cabin floor. This was the Cades Cove equivalent of the root cellar that was common in other parts of the country. Root cellars were not commonly used in Cades Cove because the very rocky soil made digging such a cellar by hand very difficult. The opening was normally covered by a hinged door or loose boards that could be lifted out to gain access to the storage underneath.5 This opening can be seen in the John Oliver Cabin about 5 feet in front of the fireplace. For safety, the boards are now fastened in place.

Also to be seen in the John Oliver Cabin is a "cat hole". This is a small opening - perhaps 4 inches square- cur in the corner of one or more doors. It's purpose was to let the cat in and out without having to open the door. Cats were allowed in the house and were important in the control of rodents. Dogs, on the other hand, were generally outside animals and not usually allowed in the house.6
The life of settlers in Cades Cove was hard and difficult. They had to carry their water from the spring, stream or well. Since some of the streams stop flowing during dry seasons, a all-weather water source was an important asset. Other conveniences, like electricity, indoor plumbing, and heat and air conditioning that are taken for granted in the 21st century were not available or even heard of in the early 19th century. Indications are that the settlers were satisfied with their lot. They owned their land, they had shelter, food to eat and had never heard of those "basics" that modern society deems necessary. When they had time to look, they had some of the most beautiful scenery in the country. What more could they want?

There was another "hole" that earlier homes sometimes had. This was the "Granny Hole."  It was an opening in the outside wall of the house near the fireplace. Granny often lived with the family, but was not expected to do outside chores. Rather she did such things as sewing and mending, cooking and tending the fire, caring for small children and other indoor tasks. To give her a little natural light and let her see what was going on outside, a hole was cut in the wall where she could sit by the fire and look out.7
Primitive Baptist Church 

Location on Loop Road: 2.2 miles from Loop Road entrance to access road
Organization of Primitive Baptists in Cades Cove
The Primitive Baptist faith blossomed in Cades Cove from its inception. John and Lurena Oliver were devout Baptists, having ‘found the Lord” in the Cades Cove wilderness and isolation. They held meetings with the first settlers in private homes throughout the 1820 s. The Cades Cove Baptists were first organized, through the efforts of John and Lurena, as an arm of the Miller s Cove Baptist Church. The church requested independence of the Millers Cove group in 1827, reorganizing instead as the Cades Cove Arm of the Wear’s Cove Baptist Church. In 1829, they achieved autonomy as the Cades Cove Baptist Church.

Average membership of the church was between 50 and 100 members in the middle to late 1800’s. Although the membership was proportionately low to the overall population of the Cove (almost 700 residents in 1850), the Primitive Baptists exerted an enormous influence on the morality and social mores of the Cades Cove community.

Summary of Church Discipline
The Baptist faith in the Cades Cove involved a number of strictly held principles that guided the Cove community. They believed in local autonomy of the Church. The Cades Cove Baptist Church was a member of the Tennessee Association of Primitive Baptists from 1829 to 1914. The Association was called upon to clarify questions of doctrine and settle major disputes occasionally, but final decisions were always in the hands of the individual church and majority rule of the membership. This insistence on local autonomy undoubtedly influenced the Cove tendency toward local political and law enforcement autonomy.

The Cades Cove Baptists also frowned on elitism. The elder or moderator of church meetings was generally chosen from the membership when they felt “called upon” to preach the faith. They were never referred to as Reverend, that title implying a higher status than the general membership, and were never paid for their services. Discussion of money was frowned upon. The finances of the church and assistance to the elder or moderator was handled privately by a chosen clerk, appointed by a majority vote of the members. Everyone was considered equal. The Primitive Baptist ceremonial foot washing was also symbolic of the equality of the members. Members washed each other’s feet (women washed women, men washed men). This belief in equality was strongly held by the Cades Cove community at large. Every farmer was on an equal political and social standing with every business owner, regardless of wealth or property.

Several activities were frowned upon by the Cades Cove Baptists. These included: missing church meetings, laughing, whispering, or speaking out of turn at meetings, gossiping about problems with the church or its members without addressing the problem to the church members, speaking in anger, women speaking out of turn, neglecting to rebuke others known to be guilty of sin, attending other churches to the neglect of ones own, and neglecting the duties of life (farming, chores, etc.) All of these transgressions were dealt with by the moderator or elder first chastising the individual privately, then suspending the individual from communion with the church, and finally excommunicating the individual from church membership. All of these punishments could be resolved if the individual showed true repentance and remorse about their sins and asked the membership for forgiveness. This system of checking on your neighbor was considered a moral and faithful duty, rather than nosy meddling, and was practiced throughout the Cove regardless of faith.

Musical instruments and dancing were frowned upon by many Baptists. As an option for expressing their faith with music, the Cades Cove Primitive Baptists turned to Sacred Harp Singing. The name supposedly came from a hymn book, The Sacred Harp, published in Georgia in 1844. Some people call it Shaped Note Singing, after the style of the written music. This harmonizing singing style actually originated in the mid- 1700’s in Ireland and Wales. Many Cades Cove settlers were descended from Irish and Welsh immigrants, so their adoption of this style is not surprising. Music written with different shaped notes, each corresponding to a specific tone, is sung by an entire group. Different parts are written for alto, soprano, tenor and bass resulting in a strangely discordant harmony. Usually one of the more gifted singers is trained by a singing teacher. This person, in turn, trains the other singers and leads the group one line at a time. The begin with singing not the words, but the music itself (Do, ray, mi, fa, so, etc.), and follow that version with the worded version. This form of musical expression is still practiced in the Southern Appalachians and can occasionally be heard in Cades Cove.

Major Issues
The Cades Cove Primitive Baptist Church went through several major disputes, both within and outside the church itself. One major issue was the split in 1838 over missionary work, which changed the name from the Cades Cove Baptist Church to the Cades Cove Primitive Baptist Church. This issue is discussed further under the Missionary Baptist Church.
Another important issue occurred around 1910. A national theological dispute over the age of accountability for church membership became internalized within the Cades Cove church. One group, led by Elder William H. Oliver, believed that an individual could only consent to baptism and join the church after age twelve. The opposing group, led by Elder Andy Gregory, thought that younger children could be saved. This issue became so divisive throughout the region that afterward individuals from many other Primitive Baptist Churches were referred to as “Oliver” Baptists or “Gregory” Baptists.8
One of the tenets of the Baptist faith was predestination. One is predestined at birth to either be saved or be a sinner. One cannot change this fate, but can only hope that with faith one will be among the saved. The Cades Cove Primitive Baptists began moving toward a doctrine of free-will late in the 19th century. They began expelling or excommunicating members for having extreme predestination beliefs in 1875. This issue led the church to withdraw from the Tennessee Association of Primitive Baptists in 1914.

Another major issue that divided not only Cades Cove, but the entire nation, was the Civil War. The majority of Cades Cove was pro-Union, but regions south of the Cove, including most of North Carolina, leaned toward the Confederacy. Several families within Cades Cove were divided among themselves. The roads and trails of Cades Cove were used by guerrillas who raided area farms and terrorized Cades Cove residents throughout the war. The Primitive Baptist Church, along with all of the other churches in the Cove, halted meetings from 1862 to 1865.

The Church Structure
The first Primitive Baptist meetings were held in private homes with groups of family and friends. Later, meetings were held in a log building, probably located in the center of the cemetery behind the current building, from 1832 until 1887. These gatherings were hosted once a month, for an average of two days, by either a circuit riding preacher or the chosen moderator. Funds were raised in 1887 to construct the building that remains on the site today. The property for the church was granted by William Tipton to church trustees Peter Cable and John Oliver in 1836.

The existing Cades Cove Primitive Baptist Church is built of milled, unseasoned yellow poplar and consists of a 28' x 40' rectangular room, painted white outside, and topped by a belfry and corrugated sheet metal roof. This roof, replaced in 1939, was originally made of oak shingles. The one room stands on dry-laid stone piers and contains a pierced screen chancel and small pulpit of black walnut, standing on a 4' x 8' dais, as well as twenty four unfinished pine pews and a place for a wood stove. The pews are arranged with several to the right and left of the dais, and the rest facing the pulpit. The pews to the right and left of the moderator were reserved for members of the church, while visitors and members of other churches sat in front facing pews. Men usually sat apart from the women and children during meetings. There is also a bench, facing the congregation, in front of the pulpit. It was known as a mourning bench, and was reserved for those in mourning or those publicly repenting for past sins. The interior of the building is made of hand-planed tongue and groove white pine. Hand prints of the original builders are still visible in the dried sap of the unseasoned wood on the ceiling. Churches were the only buildings built of fresh unseasoned wood.

When the states of Tennessee and North Carolina began purchasing land for the future Great Smoky Mountains National Park in the 1920's and 30's, the Primitive Baptist Church fought a long legal battle to retain the rights to worship in Cades Cove. In 1940, they secured a yearly lease from the National Park Service and retained the right to maintain and utilize the church and cemetery. The congregation kept the building and grounds maintained until this special use permit expired and was canceled in 1970. Since 1970, the church and grounds have been maintained by Great Smoky Mountains National Park historic preservation crews. The park has performed some major repairs including removing a continuous foundation an replacing it with original-style stone piers, replacing the hand-hewn sills, fumigating for insects, repairing window frames, reroofing, and building a cemetery fence.

Today the Cades Cove Primitive Baptist Church and Cemetery are being visited and enjoyed by church descendants and park visitors alike. Although the church membership officially disbanded in the 1960's, occasional worship services are held, burials are performed, and weddings are still celebrated in this historic area.
Location on Loop Road: 2.5 miles from entrance
History of the Church
The Cades Cove Methodist Church was organized as early as 18249. A circuit rider named George Eakin penetrated the mountains soon after the first settlers arrived. Dr. Jobe, son of Joshua Jobe, reported that he heard Reverend Eakin preach in Cades Cove in 1824. Dependent upon the circuit riders, the church was listed in 1830 as a church on the Little River Circuit. 10. The group met in homes at first for there were only a few members, but in 1840 they built their first meeting house. It was a log building described by John W. Oliver as "of very crude nature built of logs notched down at the corners covered with hand-made shingles and weighted down with eight poles. The seats were made of split puncheons and set on round wooden legs without back rests, and were used for school and church. A furnace of stone and earth was built up in the center to build a fire and the smoke went up through the roof. As there were no sawmills in those early pioneer days the buildings were at first without floors. Later puncheon floors were put in. Puncheons were split and hewed slabs."

This structure served for over 60 years until the present building was constructed in 1902. Very few records exist for the years between 1840 and 1878 but it is known that regular services were held. Despite doctrinal differences, the Methodists and Primitive Baptists were on friendly terms. The Methodists apparently used the Primitive Baptist meeting house from time to time and the two congregations participated in joint revival services. Nevertheless, by 1891, there were only a handful of Methodists in Cades Cove12.

One of the factors that led to the decline of the Methodist Episcopal Church in Cades Cove was a difference of opinion that was reflected from a broader division within the Methodist church in America over this issue. This rift became apparent following 1844 and festered right up to the Civil War. While there was no known slavery in Cades Cove, there were strong feelings of sympathy for both the Southern and Northern causes among members of the community. With the outbreak of the War, these feelings brought about the suspension of services in all the churches of Cades Cove (both Methodist and Baptist) for the duration of the conflict. With the close of hostilities, the differences continued to fester and led to the construction in 1880 of a Northern Methodist Church in Cades Cove. (See on next page for more about this new church.)

The Present Church Building
The Cades Cove Methodist Church underwent some growth as the twentieth century approached and in 1902 the present church was erected. A circuit riding preacher, Rev. John McCampbell came to Cades Cove to hold services. He agreed to stay awhile to erect a church. Hand planing all the lumber, he accomplished the task in 115 days and was paid $115 for his efforts13. Questions are sometimes asked regarding the presence of two doors in the front of the church. Sources disagree as to the reason for these two doors. One explanation holds that there were separate entrances for men and women - the women and children using the left door and the men using the right door. While it was the custom in some churches to separate the men and women in this fashion, there is no strong evidence that this was the custom in the Cades Cove Methodist Church. There is no visible evidence in the church building of a divider having been installed down the middle of the church as was customary in most churches that followed this practice. Another explanation is simply that plans for the building were borrowed from another congregation and that the plans showed two doors. The reader is left to take his/her choice of these accounts.

Rev. McCampbell stayed on for a number of years as Pastor of the church. While the number of church members did not grow to equal the numbers in the Primitive Baptist Church, nevertheless, there was always a group of faithful worshipers who held the church together. The Congregation members were very trustful of their neighbors and fellow members as was common in Cades Cove. It seems that they were a bit slipshod about the church property. The church was built, and they still didn't own the land beneath it. The church didn't have title to this property until eight years later when William A. Feezell donated and gave a deed to the Trustees.14 Cove people were apparently rather nonchalant about their own possessions. A parcel of land was purchased and a deed was drawn, but everyone knew who bought the land and where that parcel was located so in some cases the deed was not recorded at the county courthouse until sometime later. "Later" was likely to be years away and sometimes never -the original deed simply held by the buyer as proof that he owned the land to be passed on the the next owner if it was ever sold.

Hopewell Methodist Church
The Northern Methodist Church, also known as the Hopewell Methodist Church, was the result of the split in the membership mentioned above. This rift reflected nationwide ideological differences in the United States prior to and during the Civil War. A group of Methodists began to meet in a school building in the lower end of Cades Cove. It is not clear whether this was the Lower School or perhaps one of the "old field schools". It is stated that this school was across the road from the Nature Trail, but this location is not near the site of any established school building of that period15. [See about "old field schools" under Schools of Cades Cove.]
Wherever the meeting place, this small group organized Hopewell Methodist Church and, in 1880, built their house of worship on a hill on the southern side of the Cove near the end of Hyatt Lane. A half acre of land for the church was donated by Dan Lawson. The land was deeded to "God Almighty"16. One can imagine the legal problems in the 1920's when the government tried to acquire the land.

The Northern Methodist Church did not grow significantly in membership. It is said that it was not much more than a family affair. After a time, the building fell into disrepair and today there is no indication that a church building ever existed there except for the small cemetery that remains. This cemetery is known as the Lawson Cemetery.

Other Church Groups in Cades Cove
There is no record of any other church in Cades Cove during the 19th century. In later years there was a Mormon Church body in the cove. It was primarily just one family - the Harmons and they were permitted to use the Hopewell Methodist Churches for worship17.

Missionary Baptist Church 

Location on Loop Road: 3.0 miles from entrance
The History of the Church
In the years between 1825 and 1845, there was great dissension within the Baptist churches of East Tennessee. The differences reached a peak about 1837-1838 and it was in this climate that the Missionary Baptist Church was founded. The subject of the disagreement was a growing debate over missions as well as other areas such as temperance societies, Sunday Schools and the Baptist Convention. Conservative members of the Primitive Baptist Church, then known as the Cades Cove Baptist Church, held the belief that these institutions had no scriptural authority and therefore opposed them. The dispute became very heated in the Cades Cove church and sometime in 1838 or 1839, thirteen members including the pastor, Johnson Adams, were excluded from the fellowship of the Cades Cove Baptist Church.18
These thirteen quickly formed a new church fellowship which they called the Missionary Baptist Church. This body was recognized by the Tennessee Association of Baptists as the accepted Baptist Church in Cades Cove. In response and to further differentiate between themselves and this new church body, the old Cades Cove Baptist Church changed its name to Primitive Baptist Church on May 15, 184119. There was very little reconciliation between the two groups throughout the remainder of the century 20 In fact, it appears that at times there was actual unfriendliness.

The Missionary Baptist Church fellowship remained small and rather inactive. Although its members were recognized by the Tennessee Association of Baptists as the legitimate church in Cades Cove, there was very little support for them within the community. The church remained small until, in 1846, a number of new members were added, but at the time of the Civil War, it is reported that there were less than twenty members. During the twenty years before the Civil War, there were times during which no services were held. Then, as with the other churches in the Cove, no activities were held from October 1862 until 1865. Then for some reason the church again held no services from 1880 to 188921.

In 1893, the Missionary Baptist Church had a very successful revival with the evangelist Thomas Sexton leading. As a result of this event, the church called J. M. Saults to be its Pastor and at least twenty new members were added. New members continued to be added to the congregation and in 1894, a meeting house was built on Hyatt Hill. Until this time they had met in members homes or in one of the other churches. A Sunday School was started in 1898 and continued in operation until the Missionary Baptist Church closed its doors in 1944.

The Present Church Building
The present meeting house was built in 1915. Like the Primitive Baptist Church and the Cades Cove Methodist Church buildings, the Missionary Baptist Church is a frame structure about the same size as the others. There are some differences in design. The Missionary Baptist Church includes a foyer that helps to shelter the entrance from the weather. The pulpit area of the church is different also in that there is a bay window directly behind the pulpit. This was apparently done to increase the floor space in the front of the church. Like the other churches the pews are unfinished wood and are arranged on each side of the central aisle. In the center of the church, a low box with bricks in it is the location of the stove that was used for heating the building.
	

	Elijah Oliver Place 




Location on Loop Road: 4.5 miles from entrance
[Note:
The Elijah Oliver Place requires a 1/2 mile walk (each way) from this point on the Loop Road. There is another trail that leads to the Elijah Oliver place from the Abrams Fall trail head. It, too, is a 1/2 mile walk each way.]

The Family
Elijah Oliver (1829-1905) was the son of John and Lurena Oliver. Lie was married on April 4, 1852 to Mary Jane “Polly” Lawson (1830-1898) a sister of Dan Lawson. Elijah and Mary Jane had five children, Martha Jane (1853-1883), John Oliver (1855-1894), William H. Oliver (1857-1940), Mary Lurena (1860-1929) and Elizabeth (1863~1951).22.

During the Civil War he was a Union sympathizer. As a result of his siding with the North, he and his family, as were others with similar leanings became targets of the Confederate guerrillas that raided Cades Cove during the war years. To protect his family, Elijah moved them all (wife and four small children) up on the Tuckaleechee side of Rich Mountain where they stayed for the duration of the war. Even so they were still bothered by raiders who came into Cades Cove to confiscate weapons, provisions and horses. At one point, he was taken prisoner by the raiders and held for two weeks before being freed. William H. Oliver reported that this time was very hard on Elijah’s wife.23  These raids were ostensibly to support the Confederate cause, but there are indications that the raiders were mostly a band of renegades from North Carolina who took advantage of the situation.

Apparently, Elijah Oliver was not actively sought after by anyone nor was he any more “picked upon” than other Cades Cove residents during this period. During the Civil War, it is reported that he made frequent trips to Knoxville and Maryville and brought back purchases made there for his family and for neighbors. Numerous passes were issued to him by the Office of Provost Marshal of East Tennessee from June 7, 1861 to January 11, 1865 as “receipts that he had furnished proof of loyalty”.24•

Like his father before him, Elijah Oliver was a member and staunch supporter of the Primitive Baptist Church. He was appointed clerk of the church August 19, 1867 and served in that capacity for over 37 years until his death in 1905. After the war ended, Elijah Oliver moved his family back into the cove and in 1865 bought the property here.

The House
The main house may have been on this site when Elijah Oliver bought it. It is reported that this part was built by a John Anthony.25 It also possible Elijah Oliver had John Anthony build it for him after he bought the land. Since other sources indicate that the house was built in 1866, it is also possible that this was the year in which the second (back) part was added. Interestingly, this house as it stands to day was “created by adding the kitchen section (once the home of the Herron family and located some distance away) to the main quarters, ... “26. Positioned behind but lower than the main house, there are steep steps and a connecting area between the two buildings. With the roof extending completely over this porch-like area, Elijah Oliver created an innovative “dog-trot” design which is not commonly found in this area. What a wonderful spot this would have been on a hot summer day. Imagine sitting in this area, perhaps shelling beans or repairing a broken harness, with a typical afternoon rain hitting the roof above your head and a cool breeze blowing. The dog-trot design causes a breeze to blow through it when the air just isn’t stirring anywhere else - an early version of air conditioning!

Upon entering the Elijah Oliver house, one is impressed with the dark interior. The lack of windows in this approximately 20 feet by 20 feet room is the reason. The only windows are two relatively small windows, one on each side of the fireplace. Since both doors are sheltered by roofs not much light enters the room. Heating this part of the house must have been aided by the limited number of openings. The fireplace is located on the north wall and is notable because its face is plastered over the rocks making a fairly smooth surface. This may have been a later improvement, since the use of cement and plaster is not evident in other contemporary buildings in the Cove.

The front porch appears to have been enclosed at some time to provide extra living space. On closer inspection it will be noted that there is no door connecting this room with the house. This was a room that was not uncommon in the 19th century. Called the “stranger room” or sometimes the “Elijah room” (after the biblical prophet and not Elijah Oliver), this was a room in which a traveler or “stranger” could be accommodated for the night. The latch string on the front door of the house would be pulled in and the visitor would be separated from the family. Cades Cove people, like others of their era, were hospitable folks and did not hesitate to welcome a traveler to a meal and a place to stay, but they liked to be secure.27 During the later years of the 19th century, as travelers (tourists) became more frequent, some farmers began to charge for these services and even built small cabins separate from the house to rent to the tourists. There is no evidence that Elijah Oliver ever engaged in the tourist trade, but as shall be seen later, his grandson, John W. Oliver made such accommodations an important sideline to his farming endeavors.

No doubt this room may have been used for other purposes when there was no stranger to use it. This extra space, for instance, might have been used to provide a private place for a newly married son and his spouse. Another way of housing the newlyweds was to construct a small cabin at a distance far enough away for privacy but close enough that they would still be a part of the family. These were called honeymoon houses or “weaner” cabins. It was important to keep the sons as close as possible for as long as possible so they could still help to do the work of the farm. Ultimately, the son and his wife would seek to get their own land and house as Elijah Oliver did, but he was still expected to be available if extra help was needed at the parents’ place.

The Outbuildings
The outbuildings at the Elijah Oliver Place are of interest because the y make the homeplace a farmstead. Besides the house there is the smokehouse close at the rear of the home [see the discussion of smokehouses in conjunction with the Henry Whitehead Cabin].
No matter which way the visitor enters the clearing, the barn and the corn crib are the two outbuildings that greet them. The barn is the building farthest from the house on the south side. This barn has three stalls in which animals such as milk cows, horses or mules would have been kept. The barn may have been originally built with just two stalls. Considering that the third stall on me south side is a different height and has a shed roof at right angles to the slope of the main roof, it appears that it may have been a later addition. There is a feed trough (a hollowed out split log) in each of the stalls. The low headroom - about five feet below the joists - indicates that these beams supported a floor of some type that would have provided hay storage above the animals.

The building closer to the house on the south side is the corn crib. Unlike some of the more elaborate corn cribs with large overhangs of the roof (as at the Cable Mill area) or with two cribs and a pass through between (as at the Tipton place), this corn crib is a simple rectangular structure. It has a shed roof that slopes toward the south and is generally higher than many of the outbuildings found on Cades Cove farms. A small door in one end near the bottom was used to withdraw the corn while a somewhat larger opening near the top was used to get the corn into the crib. This larger access opening was often closed with loose fitting boards to keep marauding animals out and to shelter the contents from the weather. The corn crib was built to contain the ears of corn still in their husks. Since the corn was stored in this manner, it was important that air be able to circulate through it. Therefore the spaces between the logs were not chinked, however, these spaces needed to be narrow enough so the corn would not fall though the cracks and so that wild animals could not easily get into the crib. Mice and other rodents could be a problem so the typical Cades Cove farm would have had several cats or dogs to keep the rodent population in check.

Not to be forgotten is the fourth outbuilding. It might have been the most important of the structures here at the Elijah Oliver Place. The springhouse is located on the opposite side of the house from the barn and corn crib. It is some distance behind the smokehouse and up the small stream that flows down the hollow from the north. There nestled among the rocks and roots in the shade of the overhanging trees is a small building that a modern visitor might dismiss as being a dog house. (The settlers in Cades Cove did not provide shelter for their dogs or cats, but rather allowed them to settle in under the house or corn crib or in the barn where they could chase varmints and warn of strange goings-on.) This small structure is about 4 feet by 8 feet and sturdily built to resist the efforts of marauding wildlife yet provide a place to keep perishable food cool. In this particular case, Elijah Oliver built a system of troughs to bring water from a higher point in the stream to and through the spring house. In the building the flow of water was slowed a little and allowed to drip out of the larger trough. The dripping of the water provided a higher rate of evaporation than would have been possible if the water just flowed through the structure. The water of the mountain stream was bone-chilling cold even in the hotter months. Add to that the cooling effects of the evaporating water and the springhouse was an early form of refrigeration.

It seems appropriate to include some discussion concerning two other prominent Cades Cove Olivers. These are the grandson and great grandson of John and Lurena.

William Howell Oliver
William H. Oliver (1857 - 1940) was the son of Elijah Oliver and the grandson of John and Lurena Oliver. Like his forebears, he was very active in the Primitive Baptist Church and was ordained to the ministry for more than 50 years. He was Pastor of the Primitive Baptist Church from 1882 until his death in 1940. He was married to Elizabeth Jane Gregory (1855-1925), granddaughter of Russell Gregory for whom Gregory Bald is named. They had ten children: George, John Walter, Mary Jane, William J., Martha Angeline, Elizabeth Frances, Ella Rebecca, Lucy Mae, Ruthe Hassell, and an infant son who died.28 At some time (date unknown) William H. Oliver, bought the Tipton Place and developed the farm into a prosperous operation. That property is therefore also referred to as the Oliver-Tipton Place. [See Tipton Place - #16]
In the 1930’s, Cades Cove was in a state of turmoil over the condemnation of property for the National Park. William H. Oliver was in his seventies and he was encouraged by his son, John W. Oliver, to write down his recollections and experiences in Cades Cove as well as the family history. His manuscript work “Sketches of the Olivers,” was accomplished over a period of three years between 1931 and 1934. Although never published, it has been widely used in research regarding the Cove, and represents an important source of information. Certain parts of this work are quoted by Hugh R. Oliver and are interesting reading.29
John W. Oliver
The son of William H. Oliver, John W. Oliver (1878 - 1966) was been described as “Cades Cove leading citizen” •30 His life was an interesting mixture of staunch Baptist conservatism and forward looking, scientific, and social progressivism. In 1899, at the age of twenty, and with practically no money, he hiked out of Cades Cove to Maryville to attend Maryville College. He worked out his tuition at 7-1/2 cents per hour and shared a 2 room cottage near the campus with 3 other students. John completed a full year in Teacher Preparation and returned to Cades Cove. On July 16, 1900, he began to teach at the upper end of the cove. With the money, he received from this job, he went back to Maryville College in the fall. Returning to teach again in the fall of 1901, John W. Oliver married Nancy Anne Whitehead.

In January of 1904, he packed up and left Cades Cove once again. This time his destination was Louisville, KY where he earned his diploma from Massey Business School. Although offered jobs with several banks, he was determined to return to Cades Cove. He returned in September of 1904. The next month, he took the Civil Service Exam for mail carrier and began what would be a 32 year career as the mailman in Cades Cove.31 In this capacity, John W. Oliver knew everyone in the Cove, and it enabled him to spread his philosophy of progressive agricultural and business methods. He was a leader in education and became a prime mover in the effort to build the Consolidated School. He and Nancy had ten children, six of whom they raised to adults. He sent his oldest son, William Wayne Oliver, to prep school in Maryville, and later saw this son became a distinguished judge in Blount County and in the state courts of Tennessee. Another son, Hugh Russell, went on to a career as an officer in the United States Air Force. His daughter, Lucile married the Chief Ranger of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park.32
With all his progressive thinking concerning secular matters, John W. Oliver maintained his conservative religious beliefs. He was an ordained deacon and minister of the Primitive Baptist Church. He was quite outspoken against moonshining, and his mail route afforded him opportunity to discover and report such operations. On one occasion, in 1821, after the sheriff’s deputies raided an illicit still, John W. Oliver and his father, William H. Oliver suffered a major loss. It seems that the officers raided the still operated by Joe “Banty” Gregory. One of the deputies borrowed a team of mules and a wagon from William H. Oliver to haul the confiscated materials to the nearest railroad station in Townsend. The Gregorys figured that the Olivers had reported them. The next night the barns of both Olivers burned to the ground. It was later determined that a third party had actually reported the location of the still to the sheriff.33
John W. Oliver welcomed tourists to Cades Cove, renting cabins to them as early as 1924 and offering his services as a guide for hikers. In 1928, he constructed a “large and commodious lodge” ~ This lodge was located on the low hill to the right of the access trail to the Elijah Oliver Place just after leaving the parking area along the Loop Road. Nothing of the lodge except a few foundation remnants remains today.

As the movement toward the creation of a National Park progressed, John W. Oliver opposed it. This was a difficult time in Cades Cove as people were told differing things about their future. In July 1929, the Tennessee Park Commission began condemnation of John W. Oliver’s property. In September 1929, he challenged the right of the state to seize his holdings. Ultimately, he took the case to the Tennessee Supreme Court where he lost. While the Park Commission prevailed in the end, all other condemnation proceedings in Cades Cove were delayed pending the outcome of John W. Oliver’s case. He wrote letters to the Governor and Legislators of Tennessee protesting the condemnation of property in Cades Cove to make as he put it, “... a playground for the rich” 

A letter written in the mid 1930’s to President Franklin Roosevelt did get results when the Civilian Conservation Corps personnel removed the bell from the belfry of the Cades Cove Methodist Church. That this Elder of the Primitive Baptist Church should intercede for the Methodists shows the leadership qualities of the man. The President issued an order to restore the bell to its rightful place.36 But his efforts to halt the condemnation and eviction of Cades Cove residents were to no avail. On Christmas Day 1937, John W. Oliver moved the last of his possessions out of Cades Cove.

The movement to establish a conservation area in the Great Smoky Mountains began in the late 1890’s. There was no National Park Service at the time. Many interested parties leaned toward designation of the Smokies as a national forest. When the National Park Service Act became law in 1916, groups of businessmen in Knoxville, TN and Asheville, NC began pushing for a national park. There also was a great deal of controversy about where it should be, but finally, the Tennessee group won Congressional designation of the Smokies as the site of a National Park in the southern Appalachian Mountains.
In 1927, Tennessee created the Great Smoky Mountains Park Commission. This commission was granted authority to use the Right of Eminent Domain to condemn and acquire lands for use as a National Park. Unfortunately, the Commission representatives did not always deal honestly with the people of the Great Smoky Mountains. Explaining, in many cases, that if they sold to the state they could remain and live out their lives on the land, the Park Commission gained title to the land. Then, unexpectedly, the Commission issued eviction notices in 1929. This action was fought in court but to no avail.
John P. Cable Mill Area 

Location on the Loop Road 5.8 miles from Loop Road entrance.
The Visitor Center
Most Visitor Centers in the National Park System seem to be placed near the entrance to the park or a particular part of the park. This is not so in Cades Cove where the Visitor Center is located about half way around the Loop Road from the entrance. Visitors at certain busy times of the year may actually spend an hour or more after arriving in Cades Cove before they reach the Visitor Center.

It is for that reason that having representation of the park (either a Ranger or Volunteer) in the Orientation Shelter at the Loop Entrance is important. It is there that the visitor, especially the first time visitor, can get information and answers to their questions about Cades Cove. Without that early orientation, the Visitor Center and its associated buildings at the John P. Cable Mill area may be anticlimactic and may even be skipped completely.
The building that houses the Visitor Center at the John P. Cable Mill area is not a historic building. It was built in 1972 and operated as a “general store” for several years before being made into the Cades Cove Visitor Center. This may be the most primitive of all National Park Service Visitor Centers for there is no telephone nor electric service available in the area. Any electrical devices used in the building are powered either by solar panels or generator.

The John P. Cable Mill
The earliest settlers in Cades Cove did not have the facilities of a grist (grinding) mill. The nearest such mill was in Tuckaleechee Cove which was a full day’s journey each way. It is reported that the earliest residents of Cades Cove had to grind their own corn by pounding it with a rock or grinding it using a homemade mortar and pestle. It wasn’t very long, however, until innovative settlers built their own “tub” mills. Many of the settlers fashioned such mills but they were able to grind only small quantities of corn - enough for the immediate family. The quality of the meal ground in a “tub” mill was often very coarse and the development of larger mills was an important step in the progress of the Cades Cove community.

The John P. Cable Mill is a restored and operating grist mill. It was built in 1868 by John P. Cable who was a nephew of Peter Cable, one of the early settlers of Cades Cove. [See also Dan Lawson Place] Of all the buildings in this complex, the mill is the only one in its original location. The mill race that feeds water to the wheel, although reconstructed on more than one occasion, is generally as it was in the 19th century. As originally constructed the mill was both a grist mill and a sawmill. Both mills were powered by the same waterwheel. This is known as an “overshot wheel” meaning that the water is discharged from the sluice at a point above the wheel. The waterwheel is built so that water is caught by the vanes and the weight of this water on one side of the wheel causes it to rotate. At the bottom of the rotation the water falls out of the vane and runs off down the stream. The axle to which the wheel is attached is thus turned and through a series of gears, the rotation is transmitted to the grindstone causing it to turn. The ridges in the stone moving closely past another stationary stone causes the grain to be ground to a fine consistency. The miller by adjusting the distance between the millstones can change the coarseness of the final product.

The sawmill was a “sash mill”. Instead of a circular saw blade, the mill had a straight blade that worked up and down in much the same way that a modern jig saw operates. Such a mill was a big improvement for Cades Cove since there had been lack of sawmills in the Cove.

The sash mill was slow and the production of the sawmill was not nearly as great, as when some years later, mills were built with circular saws and even later, when the huge “band (bandsaw) mills” were constructed elsewhere in the Smokies. It was those band mills that led to the almost total clear cutting of the Great Smoky Mountains. Cades Cove did not suffer that clear cutting of the trees on its slopes because the large logging operations did not extend into the cove itself. Nevertheless, there are only small patches of “old growth” forest left in the Cades Cove area because almost all the trees were cut, but over more than a century instead of just a few years. Since the cutting was spread out over a long period, the forest had an opportunity to renew itself.

The grist mill built by John P. Cable ground corn primarily although it was also used to grind wheat. The problem with grinding the wheat was that there was no way to separate the fine white flour from the middlins and the bran. Corn, on the other hand, could be ground to an acceptable fineness and so the main production of the mill was cornmeal. John P. Cable was a farmer and like other millers in the entire region, had a bell mounted on a pole at his mill so that customers could call him from his fields. The fee for grinding the grain was normally paid to the miller in the form of corn or the ground meal. Typically, in the 19th century, the miller kept a percentage of the mill run. He could then sell it or trade it for the things he needed.

The Becky Cable House
The Gregg-Cable House, also known as the Becky Cable House, was built by Leason Gregg in 1879. Aunt Becky Cable, the second daughter of John P. Cable, and her brother, Dan, bought the house in 1887 and lived in it until her death at age 96 in 1940. Originally the house was built south of its present location along Forge Creek Road. The house was moved here by the National Park Service when it was determined that the Cable Mill area should developed as an outdoor historic museum.

The house is architecturally significant because it is of frame construction. The visitor could get an inaccurate impression that the settlers in Cades Cove all lived in log buildings. This was not the case. During the years after the Civil War, many frame houses were built because the sawmills produced sawn lumber at reasonable prices and constructing a frame building was a lot easier than hand hewing logs. Unfortunately, the Park Service set a policy of removing all but log homes and many historic frame structures were destroyed. This destruction included all the school buildings and a large number of homes as well as many barns and other out buildings. Except for the tenacity of the church congregations, the three churches preserved today may also have been demolished. Apparently, Aunt Becky lived long enough to give the Park Service time to rethink some of this policy and her house was saved. The structure, with its wood siding exterior and hand-planed interior walls is the only such frame building in the Cove that has survived.

The Becky Cable house has four rooms on the first floor. Originally the building was constructed as a two-room structure and was used by Gregg as a general store. After buying it from Gregg, Dan Cable continued to operate the store until about 1896. In that year, the store business was sold to J.M. Saults who moved the operation to a different building. Shortly after the turn of the century, Dan and his wife died and Aunt Becky assumed the care and raising of their four children. About this time, she also proceeded to expand the house by the

addition of a third room on the first floor and a kitchen on the back of the building. It was also at this time that the second floor was divided into three rooms. It is interesting to note that the three rooms on the front of the structure each has its entrance off the porch. The second door from the left leads to the second floor stairway.

The Becky Cable house is the only one in Cades Cove that contains furnishings. When the building is open, the visitor can see a number of items that portray late 19th - early 20th century living in the Cove. Some of these items were probably made right here in the Cove by one of the skilled craftsmen that lived here. Perhaps an item might have been made to settle a store debt. Some may be surprised to see the cast iron cook stove in the kitchen. Often visitors get the impression that everybody in all eras cooked over the open fire in the fireplace. Such was the case in the early days, but as the roads in and out of the Cove improved and the commerce with Tuckaleechee Cove, Maryville and Knoxville increased, many Cades Cove residents acquired a cook stove. These stoves were manufactured in places as close as Knoxville and were available in the early 19th century. This item of furnishing was probably the first thing brought into the Cove38 Picture the glow on Ma’s face, when Pa returned from town with the cook stove.

Most young women in Cades Cove married. Usually the groom was also from Cades Cove. Although a picture of girls marrying in their teens is commonly held, this was not the norm in Cades Cove where the average age for marriage was in the early twenties ~ There were a few exceptions and Becky Cable was one of these. Born in 1844, she was the second daughter of John P. and Elizabeth Whitehead Cable. Unlike her Cades Cove contemporaries, Becky never married. As noted previously she tended store. In addition to that occupation, she took in boarders, tended to her farm, grazed cattle on the family’s mountain land, and cared for the orphaned children of her younger brother, Dan Cable.

The Blacksmith Shop
The blacksmith shop was an important place in the life of any farming community and Cades Cove was no exception. In the early days of the settlement of Cades Cove each farmer had to do his own blacksmithing as best he could as the need arose. The breaking of a plow, for instance, could be a disaster in this farm community and those who became adept at repairing such tools were often called upon to help a neighbor. Most of the early blacksmithing dealt with the repair of broken items. Later, others who had the skills needed to work with metals moved into the Cove and opened blacksmith shops such as the one located at the Cable Mill area. Utilizing these skills several Cades Cove residents are reported to have devised tools and implements that were superior to any they could buy. Moved from its original site elsewhere in the Cove, this shop is complete with a forge, anvils and a number of tools used by the blacksmith. Also there are some of the finished items that the blacksmith produced.

The Cantilever Barn
The Lequire Cantilever Barn is located across the mill race which feeds water to the mill. At first glance the barn does not look like the cantilever barn seen in pictures or at the Tipton place, but upon close observation the cantilevered construction becomes apparent. The back and both ends of the barn have been closed in, masking the details of construction. Under the cantilevered wings of this barn may be seen a variety of farm implements. Some of these are made of wood and represent the primitive tools fashioned by the early settlers from the materials available to them. Other implements represent the development of farming methods in Cades Cove. As the roads improved and commerce with areas outside the Cove increased the farmers were able to procure metal implements as well as wheeled devices to make their task of cultivating the fields easier and more productive. [See more about cantilever barns under the Tipton Place].
The Corn Crib
There are three distinctly different corn crib designs exhibited in Cades Cove (see Elijah Oliver Place and Tipton Place for discussions of the other two designs). The corn crib located here at the Cable Mill area is a cantilever type design with heavy beams placed across the crib and extending out to both sides. These beams support the eaves of the roof at a point about 8 feet out on each side of the crib. The type of corn crib provided shelter for unloading the corn from a wagon into the storage area of the corn crib. When the filling process was done, the overhanging roofs provided sheltered storage for farm implements and other things. The locals called these overhangs “plunder sheds” - the word “plunder” was an old term meaning miscellaneous stuff.x. Similar structures were built in other locations. In some cases, where the heavy beams were not used, posts supported the out edges of the roof.

The Drive through Barn
Somewhat the opposite of the cantilever barn is the two-pen drive through barn. At the Cable Mill area, this type barn is found behind the Becky Cable house and past the corn crib. The base of the barn is two pens one at each end. The heavy beams span the opening between the pens and support the second level of the structure. The result was a covered area approximately 10 by 20 feet with adequate space for the cow(s) at one end and the mules or horses at the other end. The covered space in between was used for wagon storage, access to the upper level where hay was kept, a covered workspace for various farm chores, and, in bad weather, shelter for other animals.

The Smokehouse
The small building located between the mill and the house was the smokehouse. It is similar to other such structures found in Cades Cove. There are five smokehouses exhibited in the Cove. All of them are about the same size and constructed in a similar manner. [See a discussion of smokehouses under the Henry Whitehead cabin.]
The Sorghum Press and Cooker
In the open grassy area to the right before the Becky Cable house there is a shed roof over what appears to be a large barbeque pit. The pit is built up with stone and while not used for barbequing, it was used for cooking sorghum. Just beyond that shed is a strange looking device consisting of two rollers that are very close to each other. Extending from the top of this device is a long beam. (When not in use, this beam may be removed for safety reasons.) This device is the Sorghum Press.

The residents of Cades Cove needed sweeteners but access to refined sugar was limited and the cost of getting it to the Cove was prohibitive, especially when they had two sources at hand that did not cost anything but their labor. The first source was honey which bees produced in abundance. At first they most likely found nests of bees in hollow trees from which they could get the honey. Within a short time, the farmers built hives, or bee gum stands, and, in effect, grew honey. The second source of sweetening was sorghum molasses.

Sorghum is a plant similar to sugar cane. When the canes are squeezed the juice that is released from the cane is the raw material for sorghum molasses. The sorghum press at the Cable Mill is typical of the device used to squeeze the canes. In operation, a horse or mule is harnessed to the end of the beam farthest from the press. The animal is then led in a circle causing the other end of the beam to turn the rollers of the press. After awhile the animal gets the idea and continues to walk the circle without further direction. At the press, the operator, with a pile of fresh canes beside him, feeds the sorghum canes into the very narrow space between the rollers. The juice is caught in a pail. As the pail gets full the contents are taken to the cooking shed.

In the cooking shed, a fire has been built in the pit. The juice is placed in a large pan which is located over the fire. The heat of the fire causes the juice to warm and eventually boil. This drives off water from the juice and concentrates it until it becomes a brown syrupy liquid called molasses. During this process, continual stirring of the liquid in the pan is required. When the batch is finished, the molasses is poured off into jars or jugs and allowed to cool. Then it is stored to be used later. The molasses was used directly as a sweetener and also in the preparation of food and baked goods.

The Restroom Building
The modern structure on the left as the visitor enters the John P. Cable Mill area is the restroom building. It is obvious that this is not a historical exhibit. The restrooms are accessible to wheelchair and other mobility impaired persons. Water fountains are also provided. This is the only place alone the Loop Road where these facilities are available. There are no other refreshments except water at the Cable Mill area.

Visitors may ask why there are no soda machines. The answer is simply that there is no electric service at the mill area. Of course, they will see the obvious signs of electrical use in the restrooms and the Visitor Center. There is limited power to run the basic items for convenience supplied by solar panels and a small generator, but there is not nearly enough to power refrigeration equipment like soda machines. In the same vein, there are no telephones at the Cable Mill area and cell phones do not work anywhere in the Cove.
Henry Whitehead Place 

Location on Forge Creek Road: 0.6 miles from Visitor Center entrance
The Cabin
One of the cabins in Cades Cove that gets only a few visitors is the Henry Whitehead cabin. It is not on the Loop Road, but rather along the gravel Forge Creek Road. Many visitors seem to have an aversion to driving on a gravel road no matter how well it is maintained. The mere sight or mention of an unpaved route makes the attraction along that road “inaccessible and unattractive’t. That is unfortunate for those visitors will miss, “...perhaps the most unusual, and least appreciated, house in the park."

The Henry Whitehead house is a sawn log house. Such houses are extremely rare. Only two such homes were known in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park and only one survives - this one on Forge Creek Road in Cades Cove. The smooth, wide horizontal board siding will cause a casual observer to think that this is an example of a frame structure, but if examined closely the notched corners of the logs become apparent. A sawn log building as opposed to the ordinary log structure was built of logs that had been run through the sawmill and “squared up”. In the more common hewn log structure the logs were roughly flattened by hand on only one side - the side which formed the interior wall. The irregular shapes of the logs meant that the logs would not “fit” together. The spaces between the logs had to be filled, or chinked, with mud or clay. With the sawn log building, the logs fit neatly together, and the need for chinking was minimized. In the Henry Whitehead cabin, the logs fit together so well that almost no chinking was required. The resulting house is tight and well insulated (4 or 5 inches of wood made excellent insulation compared to the drafty hewn log buildings or the uninsulated framed structure of the day). The interior walls were also smooth and flat.42
Built in 1898, the Henry Whitehead cabin has an interesting story. Matilda Shields married a Gregory and they left the Cove. When their son was born, her husband deserted her. She returned with the boy to Cades Cove, and her brothers, David and Jonathan Shields built her a rough one room cabin. This cabin is the “back room” of the Henry Whitehead cabin. In the meantime, Henry Whitehead’s wife died leaving him with three young daughters. Henry and Matilda married and the sawn log structure was built in front of the older building. Cades Cove lore has it that Henry built the house as fulfillment of a promise to “build her the finest log house in Cades Cove”43 While the two buildings are separate, the roof of the newer building overhangs the roof of the older one. With a wooden gutter on the lower roof, this provides a covered area between the two structures.

The Smokehouse
The outbuilding here at the Henry Whitehead cabin is a smokehouse. Note the wide overhang at the front of the building. The building usually had one or more shelves at the back or around all three sides on which the smoked hams, bacon, and other meats could be stored for later use. The smokehouse usually had a dirt floor upon which the fire for smoking could be built. Some smokehouses has wooden floors - heavy wooden planks laid loosely between the walls. These planks were removed temporarily from the building during the smoking process and then replaced after the smoking was done. Other smokehouses had permanent floors, in which case the fire had to be built in a cast iron kettle or metal washtub.

In any case, the spaces between the logs were tightly chinked and some times covered with battens so that the smoke would be concentrated within the building and so that various animals could be kept out. The fire usually consisted of oak or hickory to which would be added sawdust or wood chips. Either using green wood or dampening the wood with water produced large quantities of smoke. It seems that each family had its own formula for how to make the best smoke and the best wood to use for the job. The important result was that the smoke contained certain chemical compounds that preserved the meat hung in the smokehouse.

In Cades Cove, the meat was almost always pork. Hogs were easy to raise. They usually were allowed to roam free until the beginning of autumn. Then were rounded up and put in a crude pen where they were fed a diet of chestnuts and other hog delicacies. This special diet not only fattened the pig but, in the opinion of many gave the meat a particular flavor. The killing of the hogs and the smoking process was done after the first freeze. Most fanners liked to begin the process on a day when the temperature would not get above freezing. They also liked it to be between the new and full moon.”

As it is here at the Henry Whitehead cabin, the smokehouse was always relatively close to the house for convenience and to provide protection from bears. The smell of the smoked hams, bacon and such must have been enough to drive a hungry bear crazy. The smokehouse had to be a sturdy structure to deny the bear access.

In addition to smoking to preserve their food, Cades Cove residents used several other methods. Since the destruction of bacteria by smoking only penetrated a short distance into the meat they had to use a different means for heavier cuts of meat. Thus salt curing became common. In this method the chunk of meat was rubbed all over with salt. The salt was forced by the rubbing to penetrate the outside of layers of the meat, but then the salt would migrate throughout the entire body of the cut. This created an environment in which bacteria could not survive thus preserving the meat and giving it that characteristic salty flavor.

Another method of preservation used primarily with apples was with the use of sulfur. The apples would be peeled, sliced and placed in a barrel. A pan of sulfur would be placed on top of the apples and the sulfur ignited. A cloth placed across the top of the barrel controlled the amount of fumes. The process kept the apples white all winter. Not everyone used the sulfur process. Often fruits and vegetables were preserved by drying in the hot summer sun. Often the roof offered a convenient drying rack out of the way of most animals. Dried foods formed a important part of the family’s wintertime food supply. When needed, water was added to these dried foods. It is said that this restored a tangy flavor. Yet another means of preserving certain foods was to pickle them in vinegar or brine.45
Root crops such as potatoes and turnips were usually preserved by placing them in a cool dark place. In many parts of the country this was done by digging a hole and building a low roof structure over it - a root cellar. Root cellars were not common in the Smokies because the rocky earth made digging such a cellar most difficult. Instead a shallower excavation was dug under the house and this provided a convenient place to keep these vegetables. This was the “Tater hole” described under John Oliver Cabin.
Many visitors, recalling their own childhood will have the “picture” of the women and children “canning” food for the winter. This method did not become common until the 1920’s when glass jars became readily available at an affordable cost.46
	


Dan Lawson Place
Location on Loop Road: 7.1 miles from entrance
The People
The Dan Lawson Place is also known as the Peter Cable house. To some this may be a confusion since different sources refer to the property by either or both names. To straighten out this confusion, it is necessary to go back and trace the ownership of the house.

Peter and Dan Cable were brothers who lived in Carter County, Tennessee. In 1825, they purchased a part of the Jabez Thurman tract in Cades Cove. Peter and his wife, Catherine Hillhouse Cable, moved to the cove but Dan Cable never lived here. Nevertheless, in 1836, he and Peter were again listed as co-buyers of the remainder of the Thurman tract. A third Cable brother, Samuel, (father of John P. Cable) moved into Cades Cove with his family but by 1839 he had moved over the mountain to the Hazel Creek area of North Carolina. There he established the beginnings of the community of Cable Cove.

Daniel Bird Lawson was born in Greene County, Tennessee in 1827. With his parents, he moved to Blount County sometime before 1850. They did not move into Cades Cove, but instead settled in the area of Wear’s Cove or Tuckaleechee Cove (Townsend). Dan found employment with Peter Cable in Cades Cove and, in 1850, married Peter’s oldest daughter, Mary Jane. In 1856, Dan Lawson bought Peter Cable’s property.

Dan Lawson became a very influential member of the Cades Cove community as well as Blount County. He was appointed postmaster, and he served several years as a justice of peace. He continued to acquire land in the cove, until he owned a strip of land about one half mile wide that extended across the cove from the North Carolina border to the crest of Cades Cove Mountain. Dan Lawson operated a store and was regarded as the wealthiest man m Cades Cove in the 1890’s. During that decade, and under his leadership, Dan Lawson and several Cades Cove residents constructed a telephone line into Cades Cove. As a result several homes in the Cove had telephones and there was always one available at the Lawson store.

The House
The Dan Lawson house is an example of "mixed construction". The building was originally constructed as a log structure. Later additions were framed and then, perhaps even later, the entire building was covered with siding. This covering of a structure was apparently rather popular in the late 1800’s as an attempt to "modernize". Interestingly, the interior surfaces of this house were hand planed and finished with decorative beading - also done by hand. The chinks - the spaces between the logs - were covered on the inside with "battens" which were made of beveled poplar boards. The spaces were then filled with brick and clay on the outside.

The chimney at the Dan Lawson place is unusual in that it is made of brick. Most chimneys in Cades Cove were built of local rock laid up using clay as mortar. A deposit of clay suitable for making brick was found close to the Dan Lawson Place. The clay was molded in wooden forms and when it had dried was removed from the form. Next these green" bricks were stacked, a fire built under them to bake them and cause the clay to become very hard. The finished bricks were then used to build the chimney and fireplace. Such a chimney would be desirable since it would not require rebuilding as often as the rock and clay ones. Apparently at the time it was built this was the only chimney in Cades Cove made of brick. A similar one at the Henry Whitehead cabin would not be constructed for another 40 years.

Another interesting aspect of the Dan Lawson house is the room found occupying about half of the porch. Upon close inspection, it is clear that this room is separate from the rest of the house. The only opening into the house is a "window’ about 18" square that goes through the main wall into the main room of the house. This room may have seen several uses such as an office (Dan Lawson was justice of the peace), perhaps the post office (he was postmaster for a time), or perhaps also a "stranger room’ like the one discussed previously. [See under Elijah Oliver Place].
The Smokehouse and the Granary
There are two outbuildings remaining at Dan Lawson place. Behind the house are the smokehouse and the granary. The granary is the one closest to the house. It is a single "crib" of logs and was used to store grain other than corn. Granaries were not common in Cades Cove because only moderate amounts of wheat, rye, oats and other grain were grown. Corn was stored on the cob and in the husk in the corn cribs. Just about every farm had a corn crib. The smokehouse is the building farther from the house. Typically a smokehouse has a wide shelf across the end or around three sides. It also has one or more beams (logs) overhead. The beams were used for hanging meat during the smoking process as well as for storage. The shelf was used for storage. Smokehouses needed to be sturdily built and have a strong door to prevent marauding animals from getting to the family food supply. [See discussion of smokehouses under Henry Whitehead Place].

Kermit and Lois Caughron (pronounced caw-horn)
Southeast of the cabin, there is a grove of trees. This was the homesite of Kermit and Lois Caughron (pronounced Caw-horn) who lived here until the spring of 1999. Many former visitors to Cades Cove will ask about Kermit. They may not remember his name, but may refer to him as the "bee man". For years, Kermit had bee hives along the Loop Road in front of his house. Born in Cades Cove, Kermit lived near the hay barn at the foot of "Bicycle Hill". When they were forced to sell to the Tennessee Park Commission, they moved to the Dan Lawson cabin and lived there for several years. Kermit secured a lease for land in the Cove as part of an agreement with the National Park Service to raise cattle and cut hay in Cades Cove to keep the fields open.

The large barn at this location originally stood near the Cable Mill area along the stream. When the barn was threatened with destruction, Kermit disassembled it and reassembled it here. He built his house of materials salvaged from the old Cable School which stood near the Cable Cemetery. In the early days of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park, the Park Service allowed people to tear down buildings that were scheduled for demolition. The shed behind the barn was constructed later to house farm machinery, and the other small buildings were used as tool and wood sheds. Behind the Dan Lawson house are the remnants of the garden that Kermit cultivated for many years. Kermit died in April 1999 and his wife left the Cove. They were the last residents of Cades Cove.48
Tipton Place 

Location on Loop Road: 7.6 miles from entrance
The People
The Tipton Place, also known as the Oliver-Tipton Place is an interesting stop on the Loop Road. Many people pass it without stopping because they are tired of looking at old buildings by the time they get here. This is unfortunate for the Tipton place contains a lot of history and information about the Cades Cove culture. Only the John P. Cable Mill area has more buildings than the Tipton place.

The Tiptons played a role in the development of Cades Cove from the very beginning. Col. John Tipton and his son, William (Fightin' Billy) Tipton were both Revolutionary War veterans. They settled first in the Upper East Tennessee area in 1782. William later moved into Blount County and settled in Lakemont, an area between Maryville and Knoxville. In 1821, he received a land grant for 640 acres in Cades Cove. He was awarded other grants until he owned most of the bottom of the valley. (It should be recognized that giving land grants was a common way of rewarding citizens for their military service.) He immediately began to sell some these holding - mostly to friends and relatives from Carter and Johnson counties in East Tennessee.

One of William's sons, Jonathan, married Margaret Watson. It is not known whether they actually lived in Cades Cove , but one of their sons was Col. J. W. H. "Hamp" Tipton. In the early 1870's, Col. Tipton had the original house built here. Whether he ever lived in it is not clear, for most references to him indicate that he lived in Tuckaleechee Cove rather than Cades Cove. What is known is, that in 1878, a man named James McCaulley who lived in Walland (about 20 miles from Cades Cove) moved his family into the Cove. He rented the Tipton house, set up a blacksmith and woodworking shop and served the community for over 25 years. At some time later, McCaulley built his own home some distance up the mountain above the Carter Shields cabin along the stream that bears his name - McCaulley Branch. Sometime about 1895, the property was sold to William Howell Oliver, a grandson of John and Lurena Oliver who lived there for a number of years. [See section: William Howell Oliver under Elijah Oliver Place]
The House
The Tipton-Oliver house is another example of mixed building construction. At first sight, it appears that this a two story frame house that was constructed this way from the beginning. Closer examination reveals that the eastern front portion is a log building that was no doubt the one built by "Hamp" Tipton. The room at the western end of the house that was added later, is of frame construction. The second floor, accessed by a steep stairway, indicates this also. Interestingly, on the second floor, there is not only a wall above the original log wall below, but also the floor in the west end is raised above that of the other part. There is also a low divider about 3-1/2 feet high that separates the front part of that room from the back. On drawings of this house done by University of Tennessee engineering students in recent years, this western end of the second floor is marked as the "granary".

At the back of the house another room, also of frame construction, was added. The walls and ceiling are smooth finished boards. It was probably used as the kitchen and eating area. The door to the west opens onto a narrow porch over which the roof extends. Another door opens to the back (south side) of this room.

In the wall separating the porch from the kitchen, there are interesting objects. Best seen from inside the house, they are two identical wooden objects set into the wall. They appear to have been shaped by hand to openings through the wall. Inside the opening is roughly six inches square and on the outside, it is a circular opening about one and half inches in diameter. Almost all visitors who look at them immediately think that they were port holes through which the occupants could shoot at the Indians. There are a couple of problems with this interpretation, not the least of which is that are so high above the floor and so close under the roof of the porch that any shooting would merely blast shingles off the porch roof. In addition, when the Tipton place was built, there were very few Indians anywhere near the Cove. Other explanations have suggested that these objects had something to do with the telephone system that existed in the Cove, but why aren't there such devices in other homes -especially the Dan Lawson place?

At some time, probably when the last addition was built, the entire building was covered over with clapboard siding. This was done frequently to make the house look more modern. An added advantage was that this siding covered the chinks between the logs of the original log building making the task of "re-chinking" every year or so no longer necessary.

The Outbuildings
As noted before, there are as many outbuildings here as there are at the John P. Cable Mill area. The buildings here represent a variety such as would have been found on the typical Cades Cove farm of the late 19th century. Behind the house is a long low roofed structure that often raises questions. It is a Bee Gum Stand, where the farmer had his bee hives. Early Cades Cove bee hives were usually sections of large hollow logs set vertically. Cut about two to three feet high, these logs would provide home for the bees. The roof over them was an incentive to the bees to nest there as well as protecting the bees and their honey from the weather. Later, in the early 1900's, John W. Oliver (son of William H. Oliver) built such an apiary about a hundred feet long with a suspended floor on which the hives were placed. The reason for suspending the hives was to keep the ants out of them.50
Other typical out buildings are the smokehouse and wood shed located in front of the house. In the clearing across the stream from the house is a building that is called the blacksmith shop. It is a single pen log building that was moved here from some other location in the Cove. James McCaully may have had his shop here for a time. It is known that a store was located in this clearing, backed up against the hill to the west. [See discussion of the smokehouse under Henry Whitehead Cabin]

The Corn Crib
Across the road from the house are two interesting buildings. The first, directly across the road and nearest to the house is the double pen corn crib. Usually corn cribs were a single pen. Sometimes the roof extended out to the sides to provide shelter for farm implements. It was rare to find one that has two storage sections for corn with the pass-through between. [See more about Corn Cribs under Elijah Oliver Place]

The Cantilever Barn
The second building on this side of the road is the cantilever barn. This style of barn is unique and found only in this part of the United States, but it was quite popular in East Tennessee. Cantilever barns were built using two or four pens on the ground with the second level of the barn supported by heavy beams that extended well beyond the pens on all sides. This type of construction provided a large space on the second level for hay storage, limited enclosed space for milk cows, horses or mules at ground level and a large amount of sheltered area under the overhangs. The cantilever barn seen here at the Tipton place is a reproduction, built in 1968 to replace the original one at this location.

There is much debate about the origin of this design. It appears that this style was imported from either Germany or Switzerland.51 There were many immigrants from Central Europe during the late 1700's and early 1800's who might have brought the idea with them. Casper Cable was a Hessian soldier in the service of the British during the American Revolution. He was captured at Trenton, New Jersey and volunteered out of prison to serve in the American Army for which service he was rewarded with a land grant in northeast Tennessee.52 His sons, Peter and Samuel were both early settlers in Cades Cove. Whether they brought the design of the cantilever barn to Cades Cove is not known, but it seems to be a reasonable conclusion.

The population of Cades Cove seems to have been in constant turnover for most of the 19th century. Only the Olivers and the Shields families can be said to have persisted throughout the life of the Cove from the 1820's until the late 1930's. During the 1830's, Cades Cove experienced a rapid expansion of population as many new families moved into the valley. The surnames of Anthony, Burchfield, Gregory and Sparks appeared in that decade and had a continued presence until the Great Smoky Mountains National Park was created. The Tiptons were in and out of the Cove although they seem to have been firmly settled in areas like Tuckaleechee Cove.
During the period from 1830 to 1850, it appears that Cades Cove was a place for families to come, stay for a few years and then move on to other places. In the decade of the 1830's, many moved on to Georgia where Indian lands were opened for settlement in a manner similar to Tennessee in 1819. In the 1850's, most families leaving Cades Cove were headed for Missouri, but as these families left the Cove, new names were added: Ledbetter, Powell and Whitehead. Later in the century, in the 1870's and 1880's families with the names, Abbott, Gregg, Lequire, Myers, Potter, Proctor, Sands, Wilcox, and Wilson were added. Some of them stayed while other moved on after a few years. In this regard, Cades Cove was not much different that many other parts of the United States during that period of expansion.

It seems that in the 1900's Cades Cove residents found California the most attractive state. Also in the 1930's as the Park Movement became more pressing and World War II loomed in Europe, many Cades Cove residents sought employment at the ALCOA Plant and such far-flung places as the auto plants in Detroit and thus they moved from Cades Cove.
Carter Shields Cabin 

Location on Loop Road: 8.5 miles from entrance
The Shields Family
The Carter Shields Cabin, built in the 1830's, can lay claim to being the second oldest structure among the surviving cabins and houses of Cades Cove. The cabin nestled here among the trees and beside a small stream called the McCaulley Branch, can also claim to be the least visited in Cades Cove.

Robert Shields (1784 - 1850) and his wife, Margaret Emert Shields (1781 - 1862), married in 1812. After the Calhoun Treaty was signed in 1819, they moved the family to a place along the Little Tennessee River near Chilhowee. When in the 1820's - probably 1825 - a typhoid epidemic broke out in that area, they moved again to escape. They settled this time in the southwestern part of Cades Cove in a sugar cove above the Gregory Ridge trailhead. Later, they moved out into the Cove itself and settled on land near the present site of the Tipton Place. In 1831, Robert Shields purchased 1,600 acres of land from William Tipton and with several others, established a bloomery forge. He also built the first grist mill in the Cove. It was powered by an overshot waterwheel. It continued in operation into the 1900's.53
Robert and Margaret Shields had eleven children. Two of their sons married daughters of John Oliver. Frederick married Mary (Polly) Oliver (John Oliver's oldest daughter) who as an infant was carried into Cades Cove by the 0 livers. One of their sons, William Henry married Jane McCaulley (the blacksmith's daughter). They were the grandparents of Arthur Randolph Shields who wrote The Cades Cove Story and other works.

Henry Shields married Martha (second daughter of John Oliver) who was most likely the first white child born in Cades Cove.54 Henry and Martha had nine children. One of their sons was George Washington "Carter" Shields (1844 - 1924). This cabin gets its name from him. He was severely wounded and crippled for life in the Battle of Shiloh. Returning to Cades Cove, he married Angeline Gregory in 1865. Soon after their marriage, they moved to Kansas. In 1903, he returned to Cades Cove and, in 1910, bought this cabin and land from John Sparks. He lived here until, in 1921, he moved out of the Cove. He had sold the property to J. G. Gregory in 1919.55
Another son of Henry and Martha became a community and political leader in Cades Cove. He was Andrew Witt Shields (better known as "Witt"). He owned a large farm, a general store, a flour mill and was a successful grain and cattle farmer. He built a large two story home in 1900 with water piped into the kitchen which was an innovation for Cades Cove.56
The Cabin
The Carter Shields cabin is small – 16' 10" x 18' 6" inside dimensions - and is similar to the John Oliver cabin in size and layout. A "stairway" in one corner leads to the loft area above. Unlike the John Oliver cabin there is only one porch. The fireplace wall shows evidence of more recent alteration, probably done during the early 1900's. There is a mantle and trim boards above and around the fireplace opening that are painted blue. This was probably done by later occupants since mantles, trim and paint are not commonly found in other log cabins in the Cove.
	


The Schools
Education in the Cove
The settlers of Cades Cove recognized very early the value of at least a basic education. Even though many of them were unable or had a limited ability to read and write, they made attempts to provide schooling for their children. Dr. Jobe (son of Joshua Jobe) remembered going to school in the Cove in 1825. There were no resident teachers in the cove during the years prior to 1836 but from time to time itinerant teachers would come to Cades Cove and spend a time teaching. These were called “article schoolst’ because the teacher was paid by subscription or an “article of agreement.” Such schools usually were for a two month term. Qualifications to teach were almost non-existent except that the parents expected “...that he could write a good hand and knew the old blue back speller and the New Testament.

At times when such a teacher were not available, lessons might be given by local residents who would be paid - often in fruit or vegetables. Whether it was a resident or an itinerant teacher, these classes were often held in what were known as “old field” schools. These were crude log buildings with a dirt floor and a fire pit in the center. A hole in the roof let the smoke of the fire out. There was a door and glassless windows with shutters. Seating was arranged around the fire pit and most likely consisted of simple benches made of split logs. The scheduling of classes in such schools was usually in the winter when there was not much work to be done on the farm or during breaks between crop tending and harvest. Sometimes children would be sent to Tuckaleechee Cove (Townsend) to go to school. In such cases, the children would be boarded with family or friends for the duration of the school. A school term in those days rarely lasted more than three months. Later, as the population of the Cove grew, classes were sometimes held in the churches. The old log building that was the Cades Cove Methodist Church is known to have been in use for school classes soon after the end of the Civil War. The curriculum, through the 19th century consisted of reading, writing and arithmetic. Later, a few other subjects, such as debating and singing, were added but these were often more for the adult population than the children.58
The schools seem to have been a focal point for the community throughout its life and were used for adult education as well as for the children. Spelling bees were popular with all ages. Dr. Randolph Shields reported that his grandmother could neither read nor write but was an excellent speller. She was the champion of numerous spelling bees although she could not recognize a word in print!59 Other adult education activities included music, writing and plays. Usually a teacher of these subjects would be brought in to teach it. Then one of the Cove residents would continue the instruction in the weeks and months that followed. This was especially true with musical subjects, especially harp singing which became a true folk art of the region and continues to this day. [See discussion under Primitive Baptist Church]

In 1836, Cades Cove was designated as the 16th Civil District of Blount County. Previous to this organizational development, the county had been divided by militia areas and the militia captain elected by the members of the militia group was their lone representative. With the division of the county into civil districts came the first semblance of a school system. Each civil district elected three directors whose duty it was to hire a teacher. There was also a minimum qualification to be a schoolmaster for the schoolmaster had to pass an annual examination administered by the county superintendent. The schools were now called “free” or common schools operated for only a few months a year and then only for children through the fifth grade.60
The first school building to be built was the Lower School which was erected in 1870 on the west side of the Loop Road near the present entrance to the Visitor Center at the Cable Mill area. The last school to operate in Cades Cove was the Cable School which served its last classes in 1944. After that the children of Cades Cove were taken by bus each day to the Townsend School. Sadly, none of the eight school buildings constructed in Cades Cove have survived.

 

Following is a list of the schools that were in Cades Cove:

1.    The Cable School was located adjacent to the Cable Cemetery. It was in operation from 1926 until, as the last school in operation in Cades Cove, it closed in 1944. Actually, this building was relocated to this site from a former location. At that site, about 1/2 mile on the right from the beginning of the Parson Branch Road, it was called the Laurel Springs School. [See #4 and #5 below]

2.    The Consolidated School is an example of the progressive thinking of the people of Cades Cove. On August 16, 1915, this school was opened with the support and participation of the entire Cades Cove community. It was centrally located in Cades Cove on a tract of land near the bend in the Primitive Baptist Church Road. The building was an 8-room 2-story frame structure built to replace the aging Upper and Lower Schools. But visionary Cades Cove residents saw much more potential in this building that just classrooms. Even on opening day they were talking about and planning for a community library as well as their goal of having a high school in Cades Cove someday. This vision never materialized because during the next decade the movement to establish a park gained momentum, population declined and the school was closed in 1936. While it is too long to include here, Dunn quotes an article from the Maryville Times that is quite complimentary of the people "... far off in the mountain cove ... on the occasion of opening ... the first consolidated school in the county" 61.

3.    The Crib Gap School operated from 1890 to 1917 when it was moved to a site in what is now the Cades Cove Picnic Area. It was renamed the Spruce Flats School. [see #7 below]

4.    The Flint Gap School was built in Chestnut Flats on a hill where Parson Branch Road crosses the hill about a mile from the beginning of Parson Branch Road. It is not known for certain when this school was opened but it burned in 1910 and was rebuilt as the Laurel Springs School about a half mile closer to Forge Creek Road. [see #5 below] [Note: Sources differ on the name of this school. Some called it the Flint Hill School.]

5.    The Laurel Springs School was opened in 1912 as a replacement for the Flint Hill School that burned in 1910. It was located in Chestnut Flats about 1/2 mile from the beginning of Parson Branch Road. Laurel Springs School was closed about 1926. The building was moved to a place near the Cable Cemetery and reopened as the Cable School. [see #1 above]

6.    The Lower School, so-named because it was in the lower (west) end of Cades Cove, opened in 1870 and served the community until it was replaced by the Consolidated School in 1915. It was located on the west side of the Loop Road near the John P. Cable Mill/Visitor Center area entrance. [see #2 above]

7.    The Spruce Flats School was the old Crib Gap School until it was moved in 1917 to the area where the present picnic area is located. It was then renamed. The school served until 1930. [see #3 above]

8.    The Upper School, so-named because it was in the upper (east) end of the Cove, opened in 1880 and served the community until it was replaced by the Consolidated School in 1915. It was located on the east side of Sparks Lane just south of Abrams Creek. [see #2 above]

Over the years a number of residents of Cades Cove went on to higher education. Many who did not have the opportunity for advanced schooling found success and happiness in a number of different fields. To name just a few:

G.D. Lequire - became a Medical Doctor

Hugh R. Oliver - became a lawyer and retired a high ranking officer from the U. S. Air Force

John W. Oliver – earned various credentials in business and education and returned to Cades Cove to try to make it a better place

William Wayne Oliver - became a lawyer and noted judge in Blount County and the State of Tennessee

George D. Roberts – became a lawyer and was judge of the Blount County Court for many years

Randolph Shields - earned his Ph.D. and retired as professor and chairman of the Biology Dept. at Maryville College

Teaching school has long been regarded as a noble profession. It was so regarded in Cades Cove in the nineteenth century. In general, the people in Cades Cove desired to have their children educated. They made special efforts to do so. Likewise, those men (and later, women) who endeavored to educate the children of the Cove also made special efforts.
By modern standards, class sizes were large, pay was low, books and materials were almost non-existent and working conditions were difficult. As an example, in 1891, a man by the name of John Law was the teacher at the Upper School. In a single room school, he had 80 students in at least five grades. The pay he received was $22.40 per month. Out of this amount, he paid $4.00 a month for room and board. In addition to his teaching duties, he had to tend the fire and other related chores throughout the day. Since the school term was only four and a half months, he had to seek additional employment during the months when school was out. On the positive side, the parents wanted their children to learn and, in general, the children wanted to learn.
Cemeteries of Cades Cove 

The Visible Cemeteries
As might be expected there are a number of cemeteries in Cades Cove. The largest and most visible are the cemeteries adjacent to each of the three churches. The Primitive Baptist Church cemetery is the oldest in the Cove. Since the Primitive Baptist Church had the biggest membership of all the churches during the 19th century, it is not surprising that there have been more burials in that graveyard than any other in the Cove. A fourth cemetery is the Cable Cemetery, the private family burial ground used by the John P. Cable family and their descendants. It is located along the Loop Road about 1/4 mile after the John P. Cable Mill/Visitor Center area.

The Invisible Cemeteries
There are several other private family cemeteries in Cades Cove. They are mostly difficult to find and graves are often poorly marked. The poplar or locust wood slab that was placed on a loved one’s grave may have deteriorated and fallen away over the hundred or so years since it was placed there. The inscription scratched out on that piece of slate or shale rock may have weathered so much that it is no longer legible. It is entirely possible that a person could be standing in the middle of one of these cemeteries and not even recognize the purpose for which the clearing was used. Anyone who has reason to visit one of these private family cemeteries should contact a Ranger in the Resource Education Office behind the Cades Cove Ranger Station for information and directions.

Proper Respect for the Cemetery
When visiting any of the cemeteries, visitors should remember what this plot of ground is for and why it was dedicated to this use. Children should be under close supervision and everyone is asked to refrain from walking on the graves, out of respect for those who have gone before us. Since this is hallowed ground, it would seem appropriate that conversation should be in hushed tones as lessons are learned from a perusal of the names and dates on the stones. The church graveyards are still active in the sense that a person with ties to Cades Cove (such as having been born in the Cove or lived there) may be buried in one of the church cemeteries if they so wish. All three of these burial grounds have graves that are new within the last five years. (Note: Anyone desiring information about these matters should be referred to Great Smoky Mountains National Park Headquarters in Gatlinburg, TN)

When Someone Died
When a death occurred in Cades Cove it was announced by ringing the bell at the church with which the deceased was affiliated. Since most deaths were due to somewhat prolonged illnesses, most people would recognize the identity of the person. To further confirm who it was, the bell would be tolled a second time - one stroke for each year of the deceased’s age. Generally all work stopped at such a time as various members of the community set about doing the various needed tasks. These tasks included building the coffin, digging the grave, preparing the body, cooking food and other such things to ease the stress on the family. Normally, the burial took place within 24 hours, especially in summer. 62.

Coffins were usually made of walnut. During the year, when a walnut tree had to be cut down or it succumbed to a high wind, it was taken to the sawmill and sawed into boards which, if they were not used for furniture were stored for future use to make coffins. James McCaulley and his son John, Witt Shields, Bud Gregory, and Manuel Ledbetter all made coffins and did it without cost. For years, James Cable sawed the boards at his sawmill at no cost if they were to be used to make coffins ~63

Depending upon the gender of the deceased, a neighbor man or woman would immediately head for the home of the deceased to lay out the body. This had to be done quickly before the body stiffened. Then the body would be dressed in the burial clothes. These clothes varied depending upon the situation of the family, but it was usually the best available. Sometimes the body was simply dressed in a shroud of black or white. The body was laid on a bed, if possible in a back room, while the coffin was being made. Sometimes if a person had succumbed to a very prolonged illness the coffin would have been made in advance, but most of the time the coffin maker would work well into the night to finish it before the next day.

During this time, the body was never left alone! Neighbors took turns “sitting up” with the corpse. In the summer, the “sitters” usually remained on the porch or in the yard occasionally checking on the body. When the coffin was finished it was delivered to the home, and the women of the neighborhood would line it with white cloth. The body was placed in the coffin. The next morning, the coffin would be transported to the church on a wagon. Once in the church, the coffin would be opened and after the funeral sermon, the people in attendance would file by to view the body. When all had viewed the body, the lid would be fastened down - with screws if they were available. The coffin would be carried out of the church to the open grave and lowered into it by means of ropes. The earth would be replaced, mounded up and packed down smooth. At this point paper flowers, which ladies of the neighborhood may well have spent the entire night making, would be placed on the grave. If wildflowers or garden flowers were in season, then those real flowers would be used ~6’*.

Decoration Day
Remembrance of the dead was important, and annually a social/religious event was held called Decoration Day. This usually took place the last Sunday in May. Families began as early as March making artificial flowers for the occasion. Then on the “day”, each church would have a special service and the Cove families would go around to each cemetery in turn -usually the Missionary Baptist Church, then the Cades Cove Methodist Church and finally the Primitive Baptist Church. After placing the artificial flowers on the graves a final stop would be made at the Consolidated School to have “dinner on the grounds” •65

To some extent this practice continues to the present day. The National Park Service cooperates with the event. Each year beginning about two or three weeks prior to Decoration Day, Park Service personnel visit all the cemeteries in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park. They clear the cemetery of fallen limbs, mow and trim, straighten gravestones, and remove all the decorations from the previous year. Then, on Decoration day, family members and friends are welcome to visit the cemeteries and place new flowers on the graves. Many people come, not just to decorate the resting places of their own ancestors but also the graves of others whose families do not or cannot do the decorating themselves. The National Park

Service does require that the decorations be artificial rather than real flowers due to the heavy maintenance burden that real flowers would entail. Needless to say, some family members visit the churches and cemeteries often during the year.

When it was proposed that Cades Cove become a part of Great Smoky Mountains National Park, one of the very troublesome questions asked by many of the residents was, “What will become of our dead?” It is said that William H. Oliver, in 1931, dreaded the thought of selling the churches and cemeteries to the Tennessee Park Commission which was acquiring land that would ultimately become the Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Elder William Oliver referred to it as “like selling our dead” •66.

Below is a listing of the cemeteries in Cades Cove. Those in italics are private family cemeteries. As mentioned above these will be difficult - even impossible - to find. This list was taken from The Cades Cove Story, by A. Randolph Shields.

Boring & Wilcox Cemetery
Brown’s Hill Cemetery (also known as Orebank Hill Cemetery)
Burchfield Cemetery
Cable Cemetery
Cades Cove Methodist Church Cemetery.
Davis Cemetery
Feezell Cemetery
"Graveyard Hill" Cemetery
Hopewell Methodist Church Cemetery (also known as Lawson Cemetery)
•LeQuire Cemetery
Missionary Baptist Church Cemetery.
Noah Burchfield Cemetery
Post Cemetery
Primitive Baptist Church Cemetery.
 (Note: Since most of these cemeteries are in obscure locations, anyone inquiring about them should be referred to the Resource Education Office or the Cades Cove Ranger Station.)
 Roads of Cades Cove 

ROADS! 

The isolated community of Cades Cove needed roads for easy communication and commerce with the rest of the world. Often the people of Cades Cove have been characterized as dumb, bumbling, uneducated, backwoods individualists tht wanted nothing to do with the rest of the world! Nothing could be farther from the truth. Almost from the beginning in the early 1800’s, Cades Cove was a community of people who were interested in the issues of the day. Even though they were physically isolated from other communities, they were not insulated from them. Farmers all, they had need to make trips to Tuckaleechee Cove (Townsend), to Maryville, and even Knoxville to take the excess production their fields to market and trade them for the necessities that they could not produce for themselves in the Cove.

In order to do this there was an urgent need for improved roads. Initially, the trails into Cades Cove were exactly that - trails. They were routes that had been used by the Cherokees for hunting and foot travel from place to place. As such these trails were often not very wide and sometimes not well defined. In order to transport significant quantities of goods, these trails needed to be wider, straighter and less steep than some of the early trails. In the records of Blount County there are almost continual reference to the need for road improvement throughout the county.

Today the Laurel Creek Road, in and out of Cades Cove, is paved and has only a moderate grade. While there are many curves in the road, they are generally easy to negotiate. Many visitors will not recognize that this road from the Townsend “Y” to Cades Cove was not completed until the 1950’s and that the Cades Cove Loop Road was not paved until then. The way we enter the Cades Cove today was not the way of the settlers.

The Historic Roads of Cades Cove
The earliest settlers, the Olivers, the Jobes, and the Tiptons came into Cades Cove over Rich Mountain on the north side of the Cove. This was an Indian trail across the mountains. It was very steep and not very wide. It is said that six to eight men with ropes attached to a wagon were needed to help the mules or horses maneuvar the wagon up the north side and down the south side of Rich Mountain. It must have been a tortuous trip for those first immigrants to Cades Cove. Geologically, that particular mountain is a double mountain which is made up of two ridges that interesect at the summit. The ridge on the Cades Cove side is called Cades Cove Mountain while the other ridge on the Townsend side is called Rich Mountain. The ridges spread apart as they extend westward and the elevation of each gets lower. Naturally, the settlers did not choose to go over the very summit but the farther west they went, the deeper the valley was in between the two ridges. The Indians had chosen a path that crossed fairly well up the slopes. It was this that the settlers tried to follow.

Almost as soon as the first settlers got to Cades Cove, they began to consider how to improve the trail over Rich Mountain. The Rich Mountain Road was initially improved in the 1830’s. Periodic improvements were made, usually by the farmers who used the road but no real concerted effort to “build” a road came until 1890’s. At that time the Cades Cove farmers were able to secure an appropriation from the county and using volunteer help from within the Cove, they were able to built a graded road across the mountain. In the 1920’s the State of Tennessee rebuilt the Rich Mountain Road and, for about 30 years thereafter, it was the primary way both in and out of Cades Cove.

In the 1830’s, an entrepreneur named Daniel D. Foute owned or had interest in several of the hotels that were established on the north side of Chilhowee Mountain. This mountain is a long ridge line that separates the Great Smoky Mountains from the valley of the Tennessee River (where Maryville and Knoxville are located). He had petitioned the county commissioners and had gotten help in establishing a road from Maryville to the most well known of his holdings at Montvale Springs. To provide an access to these springs from the south, he built a road up and over Chilhowee Mountain to a place called Happy Valley and beyond to intersect with the Parson’s Turnpike which had just been built. This road provided a connector to North Carolina over a route roughly the same as U. S. 129 follows today around the western end of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park.

With that connector complete Foute then looked to Cades Cove as another fertile ground for development. The trouble was that the Rich Mountain Road did not come anywhere his Montvale property. As a result he got a charter from the State of Tennessee to lay out a road from Montvale, across the Chilhowee Mountain and into Cades Cove, and then following an old Indian Trail up Ekaneetlee Branch to the North Carolina state line at Ekaneetlee Gap. It is recorded that in 1838, this trail was laid out and completed as a four foot wide horse trail with the exception of about one mile.68
The people of Cades Cove needed more than a horse trail to get their goods to Maryville. They really didn’t care very much about the trail south out of the Cove to North Carolina and, in fact, this horse trail became a thorn in the side to them during the years of the Civil War. Now, in the 1840’s, a better road to Maryville was what they needed. Improvement and widening of the segment from Cades Cove to Montvale and beyond to Maryville. The improvement was overseen by Joe Cooper and the trail became known as Cooper Road. Providing an access to Maryville and Knoxville, this road remained the primary commercial route thoughout the rest of the 19th and into the twentieth century. Today the Cooper Road trail is no longer a road for vehicles of any kind. It is, however, a wide and not too difficult hiking trail that can provide a pleasant experience for the visitor. [See Cooper Road Trail under Hiking Trails in Cades Cove]
In 1852, Foute built the Parsons Branch Road to connect Cades Cove through Chestnut Flats to the Parsons' Turnpike. This was expected to be a commercial route to the North Carolina side of the Smokies, but the road never developed in that way. There was very little commerce on the other side of the mountains, and there was little in the way of a road system on that side. The Parson Branch Road did become important in a way that Foute may not have visualized. First, it opened the area in that part of the mountains so people could spread out, and that’s just what they did - built homes, mills, schools, even a couple of cemeteries out from Cades Cove along the road. Second, Parson Branch Road became an important route for supplying the distilleries that were established out beyond Forge Creek. Distilling was legal in Tennessee at that time and at least two licensed distilleries in the Chestnut Flats area produced high quality products. Later, when in 1878, Tennessee made distilling illegal many of those involved in the industry did not know any other way to make a living. They simply continued distilling, but now it was called “moonshining”. At that point in time, the character of Chestnut Flats changed dramatically. There was an increased incidence of fighting, shootings, and stabbings, and when the man of the household was arrested and convicted of these crimes, wives and children were left with no means of support.

In 1840, Dr. Isaac Anderson undertook to build a road across the Great Smoky Mountains from Tuckaleechee Cove, through Schoolhouse Gap and generally along the route of the present Bote Mountain Trail. This route was laid out on the Tennessee side of the mountains but never connected to anything on the North Carolina side. It was called the Anderson Turnpike and unlike Foute, Anderson’s motivation was to improve opportunities to advance his project of educating young men for the ministry.68 A connection was made between this road and Cades Cove generally along the route of the present Laurel Creek Road, but it did not extend past the Anderson Turnpike. At least part of this connection had been there for several years since there were people who had settled out of Cades Cove in the section called Spruce Flats which reached a mile or two east of Crib Gap. This Crib Gap Road did not extend beyond Schoolhouse Gap until well into the 20th century when the Civilian Conservation Corps personnel began work on the extension to the Townsend “Y”. [See Bote Mountain Trail and Schoolhouse Gap Trail under Hiking Trails in Cades Cove]

An old, well used Indian trail is now the Rabbit Creek Trail. This trail was used extensively by the Cherokees to communicate and travel between their main settlements in North Carolina and those along the Little Tennessee River. After the settlement of Cades Cove, this route was improved and used for travel to and from Happy Valley. Happy Valley is the location of the Abrams Creek Ranger Station. This Rabbit Creek Road has been described as wide and easy. As with the Crib Gap Road and Parson’s Branch Road, people moved in and settled along it. Today it is no longer a road but a pleasant hiking trail. [See Rabbit Creek Trail under Hiking Trails in Cades Cove]

The Roads of Today in Cades Cove
The present road system in Cades Cove consists of both paved and unpaved roads and lanes. These are listed below and include certain roads that visitors may ask about. Visitors should be advised that these roads are subject to closing without notice. If the gates are closed, it is unsafe to use the road. Visitors planning to use Parson’s Branch Road or Rich Mountain to exit Cades Cove should be advised that they need adequate fuel for the trip.

Abrams Falls Trailhead Road:
This unpaved gravel road leads to a parking area for the Abrams Falls and Rabbit Creek Trailheads. The distance to this road from the Loop Road entrance is 4.9 miles. The turn is just after the bridge over Abrams Creek. The road is about 1/2 mile long and is a is two-way road.

Cades Cove Loop Road:
This is a paved road that follows the edge of the bottomland in Cades Cove. It is generally the route that was used by the residents of the Cades Cove in getting around their community. A drive around the entire Loop Road is about 11 miles. Originally a dirt road, the Loop Road was paved in 1956.
Campground Drive:
This is the “main road from Laurel Creek Road to the Ranger Station, Cades Cove Campground, the campground store and bicycle rentals.

Forge Creek Road:
An unpaved gravel road in the south western corner of Cades Cove. It is approximately 2-1/4 miles long and is a two way road. It begins at the exit of the John P. Cable Mill/Visitor Center area and runs through the area once known as Chestnut Flats to its end at a turn around. [CAUTION! Very near the end there is a right turn to the Parsons Branch Road. Parsons Branch Road is a one way road. Don’t turn unless you really want to go on Parsons Branch 

The distance to the beginning of Forge Creek Road from the Loop Road entrance is 5.8 miles.

Horse Stables Access Road:
This paved road leads to the horse stables (a park concession) where horses can be rented for guided trail rides. In season, they also offer carriage rides and hay rides. This road is the first right turn off Campground Drive after turning off Laurel Creek Road.

Hyatt Lane
This a gravel road across the cove that will shorten the loop or enable repeating a part of it. It follows an old Indian trace and is named for the Hyatt family from Haywood County, NC, who lived along it in the 1830’s. The distance to Hyatt Lane from the Loop entrance is 2.8 miles. The road is 1.3 miles long to the other side of the Cove. Hyatt Lane is two-way road. A loop drive using Hyatt Lane is about 8 miles.

Laurel Creek Road:
This is the present road from the Townsend “Y” (Route 73) to Cades Cove. The distance from the “Y” to the Loop Road entrance is about 7 miles.

Park Circle Drive:
This road is the first right turn past the Ranger Station. It is a “Restricted Road” that goes to the Resource Education Office and personnel housing.

Parsons Branch Road:
This unpaved road out of Cades Cove to U.S. Highway 129 near Deals Gap is open to one way traffic only going out of Cades Cove. During the winter months it is closed for safety reasons. Drivers should exercise due caution when using this road. It is passable by cars, SUV’s and pick-up trucks but it is narrow in spots and fords several streams. It’s use by RVs, buses and trucks is PROHIBITED. Use by motorcycles is NOT recommended. For visitors who want a backcountry experience without backpacking and camping, Parsons Branch Road will provide a glimpse of the wilderness.

The distance to the beginning of Parson Branch Road from the Loop Road entrance is about 7.9 miles. The road is 8 miles long to U.S. 129. Allow at least one hour travel time for Parson Branch Road from the turn off Forge Creek Road.

Rich Mountain Road:
This is an unpaved gravel road out of Cades Cove to U.S. Highway 321 in Townsend. It is open to one way traffic only going out of Cades Cove. During the winter months it is closed for safety reasons. Drivers should exercise due caution when using this road. It is passable by cars, SUVs and pick-up trucks but it has sharp turns, steep grades and is narrow in some places spots. Its use by trucks over 3/4 tons, RVs, buses, trailers and motorcycles is PROHIBITED. For visitors who want a backcountry experience with out backpacking and camping, Rich Mountain Road will provide a glimpse of the wilderness. The distance to the beginning of Rich Mountain Road from the Loop Road entrance is 3.0 miles. The road is 12 miles long to U.S. 321 in Townsend. Allow at least one hour travel time. Caution: Rich Mountain Road is a one-way road to the Park Boundary at which it becomes a very narrow paved road that is two way.

Sparks Lane:
This is a gravel road across the cove that will shorten the loop or enable repeating a part of it. It is part of the original road network that had developed in the cove by the 1840’s, and is named for the several Sparks families who lived along or near it in the 19th and 20th centuries.

The distance to Sparks Lane from the Loop Road entrance is 0.9 miles. The road is about 0.9 miles long to the other side of the Cove. Sparks Lane is two-way road. A loop drive utilizing Sparks Lane is about 4 miles.

❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋❋
While there were several reasons why the proponents of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park wanted to have the Park established, it is interesting that roads was one of their “selling points “. The residents of Cades Cove had been trying to get better roads for the better part of a century. They were pleased when the roads were improved to the extent of being passable in all but the worst weather.
In 1920, there was only 500 miles of paved roads in the entire State of Tennessee. The businessmen who formed the various organizations promoting the project realized that good paved roads were essential to the commercial improvement of not only the Smokies, but also all of East Tennessee. These men reasoned that if the Smokies were to become a National Park, the building of paved roads by the Federal Government would follow. Such things had happened in other similar situations in other parts of the country. Their reasoning was based on the mission statement of the National Parks as defined in the National Park Service Act of 1916. That mission is to conserve the scenery and the natural and historic objects and the wild life therein and to provide for the enjoyment of the same in such manner as will leave them unimpaired for the enjoyment of future generations. Clearly if the people were to enjoy the Park, the government would have to build roads so that people could get there.
If these roads were built, they could be used for other purposes including the enhancement of commerce in East Tennessee. Similar motivation existed on the North Carolina side of the mountains. On both sides, it would appear that, in addition to the desire to save the Smokies and their natural beauty, the real motivation on the part of many proponents was the vision they had for increased business opportunities for themselves.
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